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 Questioned on the cowitnesses, he listed himself and Giovanni Alberti, Bishop of Cortona, and Niccolo’ 
Tornabuoni, Bishop of San Sepolcro, Lodovico Martelli, Assistant Bishop of the Church of Chiusi, and the 
Very Eminent Roberto Ridolfi and Giovambattista Nasi, Francesco Capponi and other senators, whose names it 
would be too long to write. 
 Giovanni Alberti was born in Florence on July 17, 1540, son of Daniello Alberti. He was educated for 
an ecclesiastical career by his maternal uncle Onofrio Bartolini Salimbeni, archbishop of Pisa, who gave him a 
vicarage, in 1556, when he was still adolescent. His uncle Archbishop introduced him to the Court of Grand-
Duke Cosimo I de’Medici to practice diplomatic questions. He became noteworthy in it so he was sent to the 
Court of Holy Roman Emperor Maximilian II as resident speaker. After Cosimo I’s death (1574) he was 
recalled to Florence. In 1583, he was elected Archbishop of Pisa. On July 15, 1583, he was appointed Bishop of 
Cortona. Pope Clement VIII, a relative of his, made him Governor of Fermo, of Ancona and of Camerino. He 
died on October 3, 1596. He was related to the Guadagni through Vieri Guadagni’s wife, Francesca Tornabuoni. 
 
                                      Simone Tornabuoni 
                                                          | 
                                          __________________ 
                                          |                                  | 
Vieri Guadagni    Francesca Tornabuoni   Francesco Tornabuoni 
1369-1426                         |                              + 1436 
          |                                |                                  | 
          ________________                          Lucrezia Tornabuoni 1425-1482 
                                                                              | 
                                                                    Bianca de’Medici               Braccio Martelli 1442 
                                                                               |                               & Costanza de’ Pazzi 
                                                                               |                                           | 
                                                                               |                        ___________________ 
                                                                               |                        |                                     | 
                                                             Lucrezia de’ Pazzi     Pietro Martelli     Fiammetta Martelli      Giovanni  
                                                                               |                  + 1525                                 |                    Alberti                  
                                                                               |                        |                                     |                          | 
                                                                    ____________                                       _____________ 
 
 Niccolo’ Tornabuoni, son of Donato Tornabuoni, was a Florentine noble (+1598), Bishop of Borgo San 
Sepolcro. Circa 1560, he was sent as Ambassador to the Court of the King of France. He was the first to 
introduce the cultivation of tobacco in Tuscany, which was then called “Tornabuona grass.” He was also 
related to the Guadagni through Vieri. 
 
                                        Simone Tornabuoni 
                                                          | 
                                          __________________ 
                                          |                                  | 
Vieri Guadagni    Francesca Tornabuoni   Francesco Tornabuoni 
1369-1426                         |                              + 1436 
          |                                |                                  | 
          ________________                          Filippo Tornabuoni +1479 
                                                                              | 
                                                                   Simone Tornabuoni 1472-1543 
                                                                              | 



                                                                   Donato Tornabuoni 1505-1587 
                                                                               | 
                                                                   Niccolo’ Tornabuoni + 1598 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                      
 Francesco Capponi  

 
                                                                           Filippo Strozzi 1426-1491 
                                                                          & Selvaggia Gianfigliazzi 
                                                                                             | 
                                                                      ______________________________ 
Ulivieri Guadagni 1452-1541                      |                                                             | 
& Oretta Giovanni +1510            Caterina Strozzi + 1559          Alessandra Strozzi + 1550 
                    |                                                 |                                                            | 
Iacopo Guadagni 1497-1569        Lucrezia Capponi + 1537          Piero Capponi 1504-1568 
                    |                                                 |                                                            | 
                    _________________________                                  Francesco Capponi 1540-1613 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 For what regards the second article, the abovementioned witness stated that the men of this Guadagni 
Fanily were and are skilled and able and ready to attain all the highest and most sublime ranks and honors 
usually attained by the other Florentine noble Patricians, as in the year 1204, with a certain Isidoro Linate, when 
Guadagno intervened in a power of attorney by Tignoso son of Lamberto, Florentine Consul recently sent to the 
Pope by the Republic of Florence for very important business in that moment,  Guadagno was among the first 
magistrates of the City and we can believe that in the year 1204, Guadagno was commonly among the first 
magistrates of the City, and that the Guadagni Family in that period was numbered among the noblest and most 
ancient of the City. 
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 In the year 2015, the City of Florence was governed by twelve Consuls and the Senate. The Guadagni 
Family was part of the Sixth of the Door of the Duomo. Migliore, son of Ulivieri Guadagni, was a member of 
the Council of the Elders in the year 1251. And Gianni, son of Guadagno, was part of the same Council in the 
year 1253. In the year 1279, Pierotto Guadagni promised peace to the Guelphs, which was established by 
Cardinal Latino between Guelphs and Ghibellines. In 1298, the same Pierotto was elected among the other 25 
men to promise to the castle owner of Laterina the sum of 60 lire and the best and richest citizens of Florence 
were elected for it. In the same year he was sent to recuperate the goods of the Republic. 
  In the year 1289, Migliore Guadagni was elected to the supreme rank of original Prior of the City of 
Florence. The men of the Guadagni Family have attained the supreme rank of Prior of Florence seventeen 
times. 

 
Middle-Age clothing for pages. 



 
Women’s clothing in the Middle-Ages 

 
Awesome women of the Middle Ages 

 
 In the year 1293, Migliore Guadagni was appointed to the supreme rank of Gonfalonier of Justice, and 
he was the second Gonfalonier in the history of the City of Florence, and in his time it was the highest rank in 
the City, like the “Doge” in the Republic of Venice and of Genoa and even with greater authority than the 
“Doges”; the men of this Guadagni Family have attained that supreme rank eleven times and always with 
greatest honor and efficiency. 
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Medieval costumes for men and women 

 
  
 
 On the same year Migliore was the Speaker of the Council and he talked about the creation of the Priory 
and of other miscellaneous things of the Republic of Florence. That same year (1293) he was sent to make 
peace with the City of Pisa, and he was able to do so by his presence in Pisa. In 1294, Migliore was elected to 
review the main goals (projects) of the Republic of Florence. 
 
  
 
 
 In the year 1295, he was elected to oversee the election of the Captain of the Republic and of the Priors. 



 
 
 From 2:30 pm to Midnight, every year on April 7, in San Casciano, a small Tuscan town, near Florence, 
everybody wears a medieval costume like in the above picture. This gives us a precise idea of the world in 
which our Middle-Ages Guadagni ancestors lived in. 
 
 In the year 1296, the Republic of Florence appoints Migliore as Ambassador to the Supreme Pontiff 
(Pope)  Boniface VIII. In the years 1304 and 1306, Matteo, Pieroccio, Migliorotto and Filippone Guadagni were 
“feditori” at St. Peter’s Door, Florence. The “feditori” fought mounted on horses and only the most “powerful” 
(i.e. richest and noblest) citizens of Florence were appointed “feditori”. To have four “feditori” of the same 
family at the same time means (according to the “Proofs on the nobility of the Guadagni Family”) the Guadagni 
Family was not only resplendent for its nobility but also for its wealth.  
 
 In 1308, Filippone Guadagni, son of Migliore, was appointed Gonfaloniere (“flag-bearer”) of his 
Gonfalone (flag of an important medieval subdivision of Florence) of St. Peter’s Door, together with several 
other people and they performed it in an excellent way, Filippone included. In the year 1312, finding himself 
with other Florentine knights of the band in the battle against the army of Holy Roman Emperor Henry VII, he 
was seriously wounded. Among the other “Feditori” in that battle, we find Francesco Medici nicknamed “della 
Banda” (“of the Band”), and also Gherardo Adimari and Simoncino de’Bardi.   
 
Simoncino de’Bardi, a cousin of ours, married Beatrice Portinari, the young beautiful Florentine girl another 
cousin of ours, great poet Dante Alighieri, was madly in love with and who inspired him to write the Divine 
Comedy. In the picture below Dante (right) meets Beatrice for the second and last time of his life (Beatrice is 
dressed in yellow and walks with modesty not looking at passers-by, while her friend dressed in red turns 
around to look at him wondering:”Who is this guy staring at my friend?”). They are standing at the entrance of 
Ponte (Bridge) Santa Trinita, considered the most beautiful bridge in Florence 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Two blocks on the right, over the bridge and on the other side of the Arno River, is the Guadagni Palace 
of Santo Spirito. Two palaces ahead of us, a few yards out of the picture, is the d’Hoogvorst-Guadagni Palace. 
Ponte Vecchio (“Old Bridge”), with stores and houses on it, one of them being the de’Bardi Tower, where 
probably Simoncino and Beatrive lived, is in the background of the picture. A few houses farther on the right of 
it, starts Lungarno Torrigiani with the beautiful Guadagni-Del Nero-Torrigiani palace, which gives its name to 
the Lungarno (“Street along the Arno River”), at the end of it.  
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Middle Ages bowman and bowwomen; guns had not been invented yet. 

 
 It is the year 1313. Matteo Guadagni, son of Migliore, Pierotto Guadagni son of another Pierotto, 
Migliorotto Guadagni son of Zato, Lotto and Bartolo Guadagni sons of Migliore del Panda, Giovanni and Neri 
Guadagni, sons of Benedetto, all of this noble Guadagni Family, were condemned by Holy Roman Emperor 
Henry VII as “Primates” (very important people”) of the “Black Party”. When the division between Guelphs 
and Ghibellines became outdated, the two main factions in Florence changed their names in “Neri” (Blacks) for 
the Pope, and that is why the Guadagni are accused of being part of the “Black Party” by the Emperor, and 
“Bianchi” (Whites) for the Emperor. Cousin Dante was “White” so he had to flee Florence in exile, never to 
return, and so he put Pope BonifaceVIIII in Hell in his Divine Comedy. 
 
 In spite of that, in the year 1325, Migliorotto was Flagbearer of the Gonfalone of the Vaio, in the period 
when the City of Florence was in danger of war, for fear of Castruccio. In that year Lotto Guadagni son of 
Migliore del Panza was appointed in the same Council. Chele son of Guadagno was captured by the enemy in 
the war between Castruccio and the City of Florence. 
 
 In the year 1343, Migliore Guadagni, son of Vieri, made peace with the Aliotti Family, following the 
request of the Duke of Athens.  In 1344, the same Migliore was given to Mastino della Scala, as a hostage for 
the acquisition of the City of Lucca. In 1344 he was appointed again, among the elected, to describe 3,000 
crossbowmen. 



   
Mounted crossbowman    Medieval crossbowman 

 
 
 
 

 

 
15th Century Swiss crossbowman 
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 In the year 1363, the City of Todi elects him War Captain. In 1372, he was one of the ten Men of war, 
with an immense authority, as Magistrate of the Ten Men he was General Commissary of all the wars made by 
the City of Florence. The following year he was elected to the highest office of Gonfaloniere di Giustizia 
(“Gonfalonier of Justice”). 
 

 
The “Hall of Justice” in Palazzo Vecchio, Florence 

 
 As Gonfalonier of Justice, Migliore proposed a law that some of the most important families of the City 
of Florence could not have important offices in and out of the City for ten years and nobody contradicted him. 
In the year 1373, he was appointed reformer, under the title of “speaker” of the treaties and business of the City 
of Pistoia. He was again elected Gonfalonier of Justice in 1376 and he was the moderate leader in the old law 
against the Primates (“the very rich”). 
 
 In the year 1361, Vieri Guadagni, son of Migliore, son of Vieri, was given the charge of administrator of 
the City of Volterra. Volterra had been purchased by the Republic of Florence. Because of his important office, 
Vieri obtained privileges and immunities from the City of Florence. 
 
 In 1382, Migliorotto Guadagni was sent by the Republic of Florence to restore and fortify the fortresses 
and sites of the Florentine Dominion for fear of war. 

 
 



 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Examples of Middle-Ages Fortifications 
 
 In the year 1411, Vieri Guadagni son of Vieri was appointed Ambassador to antipope John XXIII, 
together with Rinaldo degli Albizzi.  
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 In the following year, 1412, Vieri was sent as Ambassador to Pope Martin V. In the year 1434, 
Francesco Guadagni, son of Vieri, was one of the men of the Balia (ruling committee of the Florentine 
Republic, composed of a few nobles, several small masters and a few lower class representatives). From the 
Siege of the City of Florence on (1529-1530), the men of this noble Guadagni family have attained the Supreme 
Offices of Lieutenant, and Counselors of His Highness in the Republic of Florence, and all the other offices and 
honorific positions normally bestowed on the noblest Florentines. 
  
 
 
 Questioned on the sources of his knowledge, he had seen the things he testified partly from his own 
memory, and the others in the public records and memoirs of the City of Florence, and also seen and read about 
them. He said he had already mentioned the co-witnesses. 
 
  
 
 
 
On the third article, the same witness stated the the men and women of this Guadagni family have always lived 
and presently live in Florence as gentlemen and ladies and have accomplised and accomplish noble actions and 

have contracted marriages with members of the most noble Florentine families.
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 Because this witness knows that Cassandra Guadagni, daughter of Francesco (our direct ancestor), 
cousin of the Very Eminent Guglielmo Guadagni, Lord of Boutheon, was given in marriage to Antonio Salviati, 
nephew of the Very Eminent Cardinal Alessandro de’Medici and of the Very Eminent Cardinal Salviati. 
Lucrezia Guadagni, daughter of the same Francesco, was given in marriage to Andrea of the very Eminent 
Medici Family. Vincenzo Guadagni, son of Filippo, cousin of the Very Eminent Guglielmo, married Cammilla, 
daughter of Agnolo Guicciardini and Contessina Ridolfi, niece of the cousin (?hard to read) of Cardinal Ridolfi 
and her paternal grandmother was the sister of Pope Leo X and also her maternal grandmother was niece of the 
same Pope Leo .  
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 Maria Guadagni, daughter of Filippo (founder of the Guadagni dell’Opera-Torrigiani Branch), was 
married to Giovanni Mannelli. And Francesco Guadagni, son of Jacopo (our direct ancestor and brother of 
above mentioned Filippo), cousin of Guglielmo, married Laura, daughter of Pierantonio Bandini, and sister of  
 

 
Pierantonio Bandini (our direct ancestor) by Bronzino, the artist who painted the Guadagni Chapel in the 

Basilica of Santissima Annunziata, Florence. 
 
 



 Very Reverend Ottavio Bandini, Archbishop of Fermo, and a short time ago ViceLegate of the City of 
Bologna 
 

 
Bandini Chapel 

  
 
 
 
 
 Giovanna, daughter of Tommaso Guadagni, and sister of Guglielmo Guadagni, was married to Lorenzo 
Antinori. Elena Guadagni, daughter of the same Tommaso and sister of the Very Eminent Guglielmo, was 
married to Lorenzo Capponi. Filippo Guadagni, uncle of the Very Eminent Guglielmo, married Maddalena 
Bandini, daughter of Francesco Bandini and of Ginevra Salviati, daughter of Alamanno Salviati. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 The “Pieta’” by Michelangelo called “Pieta’ Bandini” because Francesco Bandini acquired the work 
after Michelangelo had attacked it in a rage because he broke Jesus’ elbow (see elbow of the statue on the 
right). The bearded figure is usually considered a self-portrait of Michelangelo in his 80s. 
 Michelangelo was working on this sculpture toward the end of his life, intending it as his funerary 
monument. The unfinished nature of his work is clearly evident in the chisel marks. 



 
 In this picture of the “Pieta’ Bandini” you can see Jesus’ broken elbow better, on the right, and old 
Michelangelo’s self portrait in the sculptured face of old Nicodemus holding Jesus. 



 
 Iacopo Guadagni (our direct ancestor), also uncle of the Very Eminent Guglielmo Guadagni, married 
Lucrezia, daughter of Gino Capponi and of Caterina Strozzi, sister of Filippo Strozzi, who was the father of 
Piero Strozzi, Marshal of France. 

 
 

Piero Strozzi, Marshall of France, first cousin of Iacopo Guadagni 
 
 Ruperto Strozzi, also cousin of Iacopo Guadagni, gave the King of France two statues of “slaves” by 
Michelangelo, in the hope the King would fight for Florence’s freedom against Cosimo I de’Medici. Now both 
statues are in the Louvre Museum, Paris. 



 
 

Michelangelo: “Rebel slave” 
 
 Both the Guadagni and their relatives owned Michelangelo’s works of art already in his lifetime. 
Michelangelo’s works are also listed in the artworks present in the Guadagni dell’Opera Palace, owned by our 
cousins Guadagni dell’Opera, together with many other masterpieces of Renaissance and 17th Century artists. 

 
Battle during the Renaissance, like the ones in which Ulivieri and Iacopo Guadagni fought to defend Florence 

during the Siege by the Holy Roman Emperor Charles V of Hapsburg (1529-1530). 
  
 Andrea Guadagni, daughter of Ulivieri Guadagni, who was the grandfather of Very Eminent Guglielmo 
Guadagni, was married to Neri Ardinghelli, illegitimate son of late Cardinal Ardinghelli. Ginevra Guadagni, 
also daughter of Ulivieri, was married to Giovanni Popoleschi. 



 
Cardinal Ardinghelli 

 
 I will add here interesting information, which I have just found on our great-uncle Cardinal Giovanni 
Antonio Guadagni (Giovanni Antonio of Saint Bernardo was the name he chose as a Discalced Carmelite friar; 
his name at birth, given to him by his parents was Bernardo Guadagni), 9/14/1674-1/15/1759, adding to what I 
have already written about him several months ago.He was the son of our direct ancestors Donato Maria 
Guadagni (1641-1718), 3rd Marchese of San Leolino and founder of the Guadagni of Santo Spirito Branch of 
the family, and Maria Maddalena Corsini (+1679), sister of Pope Clement XII Corsini; he was also the brother 
of the direct ancestor of all of us, Neri Andrea Guadagni (1673-1748), 4th Marchese of San Leolino, and of 
Argentina Vettori, who died suddenly in 1723. I will add this information where it belongs in the Guadagni 
Family Website.  I found the following information on “Giovanni Antonio Guadagni” in Wikipedia, the free 
encyclopedia, “last modified on February 11, 2015, at 06:26”: 
 “ ...Reputed for his holiness and said to have been buried with the odor of saintliness, his cause of 
beatification commenced under Pope Pius XII on November 27, 1940, with Giovanni Antonio Guadagni being 
granted the title of Servant of God (a title given to individuals being investigated by the Catholic Church for 
possible sainthood [Receiving the title Servant of God is the first of the four steps in the canonization process. 
The next step is being declared Venerable, upon a decree of heroism or martyrdom by the honored. That is 
followed by beatification, with the title of Blessed. After the confirmation of miracles resulting from the 
intercession of the honored, the final step is canonization, where the honored would receive the title of Saint. 
The process for canonization is under the jurisdiction of the Congregation for the Causes of Saints.] So Great-
Uncle Giovanni Antonio Guadagni is now Servant of God Cardinal Giovanni Antonio Guadagni. 
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 Ulivieri Guadagni married twice. His first wife was Oretta, daughter of Tommaso Giovanni, paternal 
grandmother of the Very Eminent Guglielmo. His second wife was Caterina, daughter of Francesco Minerbetti. 

 
Minerbetti Palace 

 
Tommaso Guadagni, son of Ulivieri, and father of the Very Eminent Guglielmo, married Pernetta, daughter of 
Guglielmo Berti, who was the maternal grandfather of the Very Eminent Guglielmo, and of Claudia 
Gianfigliazzi, maternal grandmother of the same Very Eminent Guglielmo. Our cousin Dante (1265-1321) puts 
a Gianfigliazzi, usurer, probably ancestor of our great-aunt Claudia Gianfigliazzi, in the third circle of Hell in 
his Divine Comedy. 

 
Detail of Dante’s Hell in the Divine Comedy. 

 
 In Florence, having an ancestor mentioned by Dante in his Divine Comedy is something people are 
usually proud of, it does not matter if he/she is in Heaven, Purgatory or Hell; it means that his/her ancestors 
were already famous in good or in bad over seven centuries ago! Several of our direct ancestors or great-uncles 
and aunts are mentioned there, not necessarily in Hell or Purgatory. The ancestors of Elisabetta Catellini da 
Castiglione, wife of Luigi Guadagni and our direct great-great-great-grandmother, from whom we all descend, 
for example, are in Heaven, in the 16th Chant of Paradise, in the Heaven of Planet Mars, where the souls who 
fought and died for their Faith reside. 



 
 
  
 
 Our cousin Dante’s Divine Comedy: Dante is standing on the right, his native and beloved City of 
Florence on his right and Hell with all the souls of the Damned on the left, Purgatory is the mountain in the 
back center, where the souls are slowly climbing up towards Heaven. Heaven or Paradise are all the planets and 
spheres in the sky. The famous Roman Poet Virgil guides Dante through Hell and Purtagory, introducing him to 
many of the dead people residing there. However Virgil cannot enter Heaven because he is Pagan. So Beatrice 
guides Dante in Heaven.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Catellini Palace, Florence 

 
 Simone, son of Vieri Guadagni, great-great-uncle of the same Very Eminent Guglielmo, married 
Ginevra, daughter of Piero, son of Vanni Castellani. Our witness stated that the men of this Guadagni Family, 
both in choosing a wife and in finding a husband for their daughters, have always chosen members of the most 
noble and ancient Florentine families like the Buondelmonti, Minerbetti, da Verrazzano, Strozzi, Macchiavelli, 
Guicciardini, Bardi, Fioravanti, Albizzi, Rinuccini, and other noble families of this City of Florence. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Rinuccini Palace 

  
 
 
 
 
 These marriages can be found recorded in public documents and contracts as our witness has heard 
publicly testified. When asked how he knew these things, he answered that he had personally met some of the 
men and women mentioned above, and had heard about the others having contracted these marriages, as written 
in the public records of this City of Florence, for as long as he can remember. 
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 Asked about co-witnesses, he answered he had already mentioned them above. He said he had already 
said with which noble Florentine families the members of this Guadagni Family had married, and that the 
Florentine nobles, both in their public and private actions are not in the habit of using names, position or 
honorary titles, other than their name, their father’s name, and their family’s, and so they say Piero son of 
Cosimo de’Medici, Giuliano son of Piero Capponi, Piero Soderini, Guido son of Giovanni Cavalcanti, and all 
the Florentine gentlemen do the same, according to what the ancient Romans did, who only used their name, or 
their father’s and their family’s. 
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 It was different if they were Knights of an Order, or having a Church rank, and their names were written 
with the above qualification in the public records. Questioned on how he knew these things, and where he 
learned it, and when and if there were other co-witnesses, he said he had already mentioned it all above. 
 
 On the fifth article, starting “Quinto an in florentina urbe” (“Fifth in the City of Florence”), and ending 
“con arma et insignia” (“with Family coat of arms and crests”). 
 
 Said witness stated that this Guadagni family, and the men of it, had their vey ancient houses and 
towers, which you can still see, in the street called Borgo degli Albizzi, and near the Canto dei Pazzi (“Pazzi 
Family Corner”), in whose towers he heard were located the coat-of-arms and Family Crests of this Guadagni 
Family.  

 
Middle-Ages houses in De’ Pazzi Corner. These were probably owned by the Guadagni in the Middle-Ages. 

 
 The towers, as we mentioned before, were torn apart in the year 1378 because of civil contentions, 
provoked by the fact that Migliore, son of Vieri Guadagni, one of the Guelph captains, intervened in the 
decision that some nobles could enjoy the Offices of the City.  
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 As Magistrate of the Guelph Party, in that period, he had an immense authority and was one of the most 
important officers of the City. The traces of this fire can still be seen in the towers, one of which was flattened 
and a new palace was built on it. Our withess said that the Guadagni Family crests have been found again in the 
ancient Church of Santa Croce in Florence in a certain tomb under the Church of Santa Croce sculpted on the 
wall of a very ancient tomb next to the Company of Jesus. This very famous Church of Santa Croce was 
founded in the year 1294. In the Florentine Chronicles you can clearly read where they state that the Guadagni 
coat-of-arms can be seen in the famous church of (Santissima) Annunziata in the chapel made and decorated by 
this Guadagni Family, in whose crest a golden cross on a red background is painted with a leopard with a 
helmet towered by a unicorn with the inscription “Exaltabitur” (“I will be exalted”). These crests can be seen 
painted on the houses even in our times, which were reputed to belong to the men of this Guadagni Family and 
now belong to the Very Eminent Knight Girolamo de’ Pazzi. 
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 In the book of the Chancellor’s Office of the City of Todi on March 23, 1363, it is written that the Noble 
Gentleman Migliore, son of Vieri Guadagni from Florence, was elected War Captain of the City of Todi for 6 
months with a salary of 1,500 Florins and with the greatest and largest authority over the Regiment of the 
People with an escort of 30 mounted guards, 10 pages with uniforms, several doctors for civilians and criminals 
cases and many notaries with other faculties and prerogatives as specified in the election, and in the book it 
seems that he arrived with a lot of magnificence and he practiced his office. At that time Todi was not subject to 
the authority of the Apostolic Seat. 
  
 The Guadagni Family, as the other noble and ancient Florentine families enjoy and obtain all the 
privileges of nobility in such a way that members of this family can be received freely and without any 
exceptions and accepted among the Knights of the Holy Order of Jerusalem (Knights of Malta) and in the 
Militia of St. James of the Sword and in all the other Orders of Christianity, as the other nobles of other 
provinces and regions. 
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 The witness stated he had met Friar Pietro Guadagni, Knight of the Holy Order of Jerusalem (Knight of 
Malta), who, in the battle of the Fortress of St. Elmo, in the Island of Malta, was captured by the Turks and later 
freed; he enrolled again in the Christian Army against the Turkish Army. He was captured again and freed 
again. He was General Receiver for hir order of Malta in Tuscany and Lieutenant of the Prior of the Priory of 
Pisa, and then Captain of a Galley and Governor of the Fortress of St. Elmo in the Island of Malta. 
 

 
 

 
Pietro Guadagni and the Knights of Malta defend Fort St. Elmo against overwhelming Ottoman attackers during 

the Siege of Malta – 1565.On the left you can see a long row of Turkish cannon bombarding the defensors of 
Fort St. Elmo. 

  
 
 
 And the witness also met Guglielmo, son of the Very Eminent Tommaso Guadagni, Baron of 
Champroux, brother of the Very Eminent Guglielmo, Knight of this Holy Order of Jerusalem (Knights of 
Malta). 
 



 
 
 
 

Arab pirates attack a French Ship. Knight of Malta Guglielmo Guadagni will be asked by the Grand-Duchess of 
Tuscany to escort Maria de’Medici to France to marry King Henry IV of France. The Medici Princess was 

traveling by ship from Tuscany to France and Guglielmo was asked to protect her from the Arab and Turkish 
pirates. 
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 And the gentlemen of this Guadagni Family are able and have the capacity to be received in any militia 
and order as the witness stated above and affirmed being the truth. 
 Questioned on the sources of his knowledge, locality, time and co-witnesses, he answered he had 
mentiond it above and that was enough. 
 On the seventh article, the same witness stated that what was written in the above articles was and is 
public rumour and fame among the most noble of the City of Florence and it also appears in public and 
trustworthy records of this City and most of all in a certain book called “Priorista” (“The Priorist”), started in 
the year 1281. In these books and public memoirs the nobility and antiquity of this Guadagni Family appear 
clearly for thirteen generations of ancestors of the Very Eminent Guglielmo Guadagni, Lord of Boutheon and 
Seneschal of Lyon, and earlier than thirteen generations (before the year 1595) we do not have any information 
as stated above, because of fires and loss of ancient writings. 
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 Questioned on the sources of his knowledge, the witness answered that he had already mentioned 
enough of it in the following articles, and the same concerning localities, time and co-witnesses.  
 
 Questioned by us on the eighth article starting “Quod in Urbe Florentia” (“What in the City of 
Florence”) and ending “modificat ordinibus utentur” (“changes the orders to be used”), the witness testified that 
what was written in the article were true, public and famous things in this City of Florence i.e. the first-born 
sons have no more prerogatives than the other younger brothers, because all the children have the same shares 
and portions  in the partition of any inheritance and this has been continuously practiced and is still practiced 
nowadays both by nobles and not nobles of this City of Florence and Florentine Dominion. 
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 Questioned on how he knew all these things, he answered that everything he testified above were, and 
are, public and well-known, and that this was the way things were commonly and indifferently done in this City   
and all its Dominion. He answered that he had already talked above about locality, time and co-witnesses. 
 
 On the Ninth Article he said that he had already mentioned above that when the Florentine nobles sign 
official documents they never add other name, or characteristic to their own name or their father’s or their 
family’s, and that the Republic of Florence becomes absolute master of the State fiefs and Florentine 
Jurisdiction as now under the Very Serene Grand-duke of Tuscany, so that no nowadays no Florentine noble 
owns fiefs for which he does not recognize as owner the Florentine Republic or else he swears and promises to 
ask the Florentine Republic to recognize them; and if some nobles had jurisdiction or fief, which were 
recognized by the Florentine Law, and if these nobles could not purchase Cities, Castles or Jurisdiction in the 
Florentine Dominion, the Cities, Villas and Castles and other localities of the same Dominion were governed by 
the Republic when it gained power over them and sent their regime with Commissaries and Governors. 
 In this City there are some people who own some small castles and who, as nobles, don’t want City 
Magistrates to come into their castles and enjoy a special privilege from the Very Serene Highness, differently 
from what I stated above on what the Florentine Republic established for its citizens. 
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 Questioned on where he learned all this, the witness answered that what he said was true, public and 
well-known. This is what you could notice and see other people notice. He said he had already mentioned above 
locality, time and co-witnesses. 
On the Tenth Article our witness said it stated the truth, and Captains, Vicars and Mayors are sent to important 
places subject to the Florentine Dominion to govern them and they have performed the duties of their Offices in 

a superior way and that in the criminal lawsuits no appeal is ever requested for the sentences given by the 
Commissaries, Vicars and Mayors, the same way as no appeal is requested for the Magistrates in the City of 



Florence. 
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 In the civil lawsuits from some lower Magistrates and from Vicars, Commissaries and Mayors oly 
appeals to the Florentine Alma Ruota (a type of tribunal), and in such way the men of this Guadagni Family 
have performed these offices in their administrations, and this is what our witness told us that he noticed, when 
we questioned him on his knowledge, localities, time and co-witnesses. He stated he had already answered 
above. 
 On the Eleventh Article, starting “Quod praelibatus Illustris Guglielmus” (“What the Excellent Famous 
Guglielmo…”) and ending “in nobiles florentinos (“Among the Florentine nobles”), our withess affirmed that 
the abovementioned very eminent Guglielmo Guadagni, Lord of Boutheon, Seneschal of Lyon was the 
legitimate son of Tommaso son of Ulivieri son of Simone son of Vieri son of another Vieri son of Migliore son 
of Vieri son of Migliore son of Guadagno son of Migliore son of Ulivieri son of Guadagno, all descendants of 
the same noble Guadagni family who have been and are nowadays  considered and reputed among the most 
noble and ancient members of the City of Florence, and they have performed the Offices of Magistrates, of 
Gonfaloniers of Justice and of Priors of Freedom, that used to be supreme and extremely important and also the 
other offices of the Ten and of the Nine of the Militia of the young Florentines and of the other towns subject to 
the City of Florence; these Offices, honors and dignity were only bestowed on Florentine nobles, and our 
witness has heard publicly said that Tommaso, father of the Very Eminent Guglielmo, Lord of Boutheon, went 
to France when  he was young, together with his Uncle Tommaso Guadagni, whose inheritance he inherited , 
and while he remained in France  for the rest of his life,   
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his father lived like a Florentine gentleman. His sons, the Very Eminent Guglielmo and Tommaso were born in 
France. And I also have heard that Tommaso the uncle and Tommaso the father of the Very Eminent Guglielmo 
bought castles in the jurisdiction of Lyon and several properties and dominions and built beautiful hospitals, one 
in the City of Lyon and the other in the City of Avignon, which shows us the nobility and antiquity of the men 
of this noble Guadagni Family, over four hundred years old (in the year 1595) and all this information on them 
is public, true and well-known in this City from the time mentioned above and the above mentioned co-
witnesses of all these things were able to have perfect knowledge and science, as this witness had and has 
nowadays.  
 

 
Old Lyon 



 
Old Lyon: Guadagni (“Gadagne”) Street. The Guadagni Palace is on both sides of the street, which was built as 
a “shortcut” through the huge Guadagni Palace because the palace was dividing the City of Lyon in two 
separate halfs. At that time the Guadagni were the richest family in Europe. 



 
 

Old Avignon: houses and Middle-Ages walls of the City. 
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 Questioned if he was related to the Very Eminent Guglielmo, he said he wasn’t and that the things he 
had testified, as stated above, were only the absolute truth and that he is fifty years old: if we compare him with 
the other generals we interrogated, he answered very well and appropriately. 
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 And the nobility and antiquity of this generous Guadagni Family is manifested not only through the 
witnessing of people but also in public books kept in offices and public Archives and the trustworthy documents 
under oath, kept with diligence, and the Florentine annals and chronicles, in which it appears clearly that the 
men of this family have really been noble, able to attain positions, honors and public offices, and a very large 
number of men of this family have attained the most sublime and supreme honors in these books and that we 
will keep the names of the men of this family who have attained the supreme honors and offices in the City of 
Florence and its Dominions,before us in excerpts from the same public books, annals and chronicles, and we 
will have trustworthy keepers and notaries summarize them in due style, and these undersigned summaries and 
excerpts of public books will be assigned to us and we order that they be transcribed in these letters of ours and 
copied according to what follows, i.e.: 
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 “In the name of God, Amen…In the Year of the Incarnation of Our Lord One Thousand Five Hundred 
ninetyfive, Clement VIII our Supreme Pontiff and the Very Serene Ferdinando de’Medici Grand-Duke of 
Tuscany and its Dominions, today October the 12th. 
 



 
 

Pope Clement VIII (1592-1605) (Florentine Pope of the Aldobrandini Family) 
 

 
 

Granduke Ferdinando I de’ Medici, statue by sculptor PietroTacca in Leghorn 
 
 We testify and state, us Notaries and Chancellors of the Ducal Public Archives of the City of Florence, 
where, under our custody, are kept for public use and utility, the ancient and new laws, provisions, statutes, 
reforms, decrees, deliberations of Magistrates, and many other memoirs, books and Instruments belonging to 
the Florentine Republic, included in this Archives as listed below, and in some other books worthy of faithful 
texts and are gathered and kept in public libraries all the manuscripts which we can find in the collections of 
some Florentine nobles, which we read and memoirs appear and mentions of statutes, honors, dignities and 
privileges, which many men of the Republic have attained in the past of the noble and ancient Guadagni  
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Family, we will write in order of time and we will show the localities where they came from and we will 
mention them briefly. 
 
 Guadagno, around the year 1204, was among the first Magistrates and dignitaries of the Florentine 
Republic, as we can easily find out in the documents of power of attorney given to Tignoso son of Lamberti, 
Florentine Consul sent to the Pope’s Court for some very important deals, among which the ones made by the 
most important Magistrates, who in the name of the Republic aappointed the abovementioned Florentine 
Tignoso public speaker and emissary. Among these important Magistrates we find Guadagno’s name in a 
document written on April 15, 1204. This document is located in Book XXIX (29) Chapter 16, of the 
“Riformagioni (old Florentine word of which I cannot find Italian definition or English translation) Archives”. 
 In the manuscript book (Typing will only be invented c.250 years later), named Priorista,  existing in the 
house of Jacopo son of Ugolino Mazzinghi, Florentine Patrician (“noble”), among other things we can read that 
the men of the Guadagni Family together with others described there, governed the City of Florence in the year 
 
 
 



 
Page 74 
 
 
 



1215 for the Sixth of the Door of the Duomo (“the Cathedral of Florence”), [where, exactly 8 centuries later, is 
located the Guadagni dell’Opera Palace, now Seat of the Region of Tucany.] and we can find this written in the 
abovementioned book in Florentine dialect [the Italian language did not exist yet] I find this fascinating: it is not 
witten in Italian, which did not exist yet as a formal organized language, nor in Latin, which was starting to 
disappear as a formal language in Italy,but in “favella fiorentina” i.e. Florentine language, different from 
Roman language, or Sicilian Language, or Piedmontese language or any other provincial Italian language. A 
century later with our cousin, the Great Poet Dante, and his work “The Divine Comedy”, the “favella 
Fiorentina” will become the “Formal Italian Language”.I find it beautiful that the first written information on 
the Guadagni Family is not in Latin or Italian but in “Florentine”. 
 In Florentine in this book we find “ac88”, which means, says the text, “MCCXV i.e. year 1215”. The 
author felt the need to translate in “Italian” the original “Florentine date”. Here we will write, continues the text, 
about all the families and groups of people, who governed the City of Florence, the rulers and the Consuls, and 
according to each 6th (“Sesto” in Italian, even now in Florence we find neighborhoods called “Sesto” Calende or 
“Sesto” Fiorentino), there were altogether six sixths, and in the Sixth of the Duomo (I presume the most 
important) the rulers of the City were Tosinghi, Visdomini, Agolanti, Ubaldini. Alberti, Guadagni and many 
others (not listed). 
 Gianni, son of Guadagno, in the year 1253, was among the members of the Senate, or General Council, 
who represented the whole city, as we can see in a certain public document of Concord and peace, made and 
established between the Communities of Florence, Lucca, Pistoia and Prato in the year 1253. “Indilione (?)” 
XYa. 
 From the abovementioned book 29th of the Chapters of the Archives of the “Riformagioni” ac351. 
 Pierotto son of Guadagno son of Guitto was guarantor together with many others that the Guelph Party  
would promise to keep the peace, organized by Cardinal Latino, Bishop of Arbia and Velletri, Ambassador of 
Supreme Pontiff Nicholas III in the year 1280, 26th of February, between the Guelphs and the Ghibellines. 
February 26. 
 

 
Pope Nicholas III of the Orsini Family of Rome. 



 
Cousin Dante (on the right) with his guide Roman Poet Virgil (on the left) visit Pope Nicholas III, buried upside 
down in the 9th circle of Hell. In his Divine Comedy Dante accused Pope Nicholas III of “simony” (selling 
Church benefits and indulgences for money) and “nepotism” (Unfairly helping family members). 
 
 

Our direct ancestor Francesco Guadagni (1534-1611) is the great-nephew of Clarice de’Medici (1493-1528), 
great-great-great niece of Pope Nicholas III.  
 
Matteo Rosso the Great Orsini 1178-1246 
                        | 
       __________________________ 
       |                                                   | 
Pope Nicholas III Orsini        Rinaldo Orsini +1286 
   1210-1280                                      | 
                                                  Maria Orsini +1308 
                                                          | 
                                                  Francesco Orsini, Lord of Tagliacozzo 
                                                          | 
                                                  Giovanni Orsini, Lord of Bracciano 
                                                          | 



                                                  Carlo Orsini, Lord of Bracciano 
                                                          | 
                                                  Roberto Orsini, +1476 
                                                          | 
                                                  Alfonsina Orsini 1472-1520                         Filippo Strozzi 1426-1492 
                                                          |                                                             & Selvaggia Gianfigliazzi 
                                                          |                                                                              | 
                                                          |                                                        _________________ 
                                                          |                                                        |                                | 
                                 Clarice de’Medici 1493-1528     Gianbattista Strozzi 1488-1538      Caterina Strozzi +1559 
                                                           |                                                        |                                | 
                                                           ____________________________                Lucrezia Capponi +1537 
                                                                                                                                                    | 
                                                                                                                        Francesco Guadagni 1534-1611 
                                                                                                                                                    | 
                                                                                                                        Tommaso Guadagni 1582-1652 
                                                                                                                                                    | 
                                                                                                                  Donato Maria Guadagni 1641-1718 
                                                                                                                                                    | 
                                                                                                                  Neri Andrea Guadagni 1673-1748 
                                                                                                                                                    | 
                                                                                                                           Donato Guadagni 1719-1797 
                                                                                                                                                    | 
                                                                                                                               Luigi Guadagni 1751-1799 
                                                                                                                                                    | 
                                                                                                                           Donato Guadagni 1794-1878 
                                                                                                                                                    | 
                                                                                                                          Guadagno Guadagni 1833-1905 
                                                                                                                                                    | 
                                                                                                                                    Luigi Guadagni 1879-1943 
                                                                                                                                   & Antonietta Revedin 
                                                                                                                                                    | 
                                                                                                                              Antonio Guadagni 1911-1993 
                                                                                                                              & Dolores Mapelli 
                                                                                                                                                    | 
                                                                                                                                 Vieri Guadagni 1948- 
                                                                                                                                  & Janice Michel 
                                                                                                                                                    | 
                   _____________________________________________________________________ 
                   |                                                      |                                                                                   | 
   Dino Guadagni 1969-                      Sterling Guadagni 1972-                                   Lucas Guadagni 1978 
   & Marcia Dawn Voelz                     & Edie Esch                                                & Kimberly Ann Edlund 
                     |                                                     |                                                                               | 
         ____________________                  ____________________                                 ______________ 
         |                                       |                 |                      |                  |                              |                            | 
Gabriella Elizabeth     Isabella     Anthony    Gianna Maria    Kristina Nicole   Madison Nathalie  Nicholas 
   2007-                          2010-         1997-          1999-                   2003-                                               Vieri 2012- 
 
 
 


